Corporate Governance Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

December 2011

©	2011 Comitato per la Corporate Governance
el	ll rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, lectronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage or retrieve system without rior permission from the copyright owners.

Committee

Gabriele Galateri di Genola (Chairman)

Domenico Siniscalco (Deputy Chairman)

Luigi Abete

Carlo Acutis

Franco Bernabè

Fabio Cerchiai

Paolo Andrea Colombo

John Philip Elkann

Emanuele Erbetta

Luca Garavoglia

Edoardo Garrone

Federico Ghizzoni

Guido Giubergia

Raffaele Jerusalmi

Giordano Lombardo

Emma Marcegaglia

Stefano Micossi

Corrado Passera

Giovanni Sabatini

Paolo Scaroni

Luitgard Spögler

Angelo Tantazzi

Marco Tronchetti Provera

Antonio Vigni

Secretary

Alessandro Chieffi

Experts

Bruno Cova

Piergaetano Marchetti

Angelo Provasoli

Technical Secretariat

Carmine Di Noia (coordinator)

Alessandro Chieffi

Livia Gasperi

Massimo Menchini

Pietro Negri

Francesca Palisi

Marcella Panucci

The Committee thanks all the people – experts, professional, associations – who contributed to enhancing the work of the Committee with their experience and expertise.

CONTENTS

Main Principles and temporary regime

- Article 1 Role of the Board of Directors
- Article 2 Composition of the Board of Directors
- Article 3 Independent directors
- Article 4 Internal committees of the Board of Directors
- **Article 5 Appointment of directors**
- **Article 6 Remuneration of directors**
- Article 7 Internal control and risk management system
- **Article 8 Statutory auditors**
- Article 9 Relations with the shareholders
- Article 10 Two tier and one-tier systems

Main Principles and temporary regime

- I. Adoption of and compliance with this Corporate Governance Code (the "Code") is voluntary.
- II. Each article of the Code is divided into *principles*, *criteria* and a *comment*. The *criteria* set out the recommended conduct typically necessary in order to reach the objectives set out in the *principles*. *Comments* instead pursue two goals: i) clarification, also through examples, of the relevant *principles* and *criteria*; ii) description of additional positive conduct, intended as possible desirable methods to pursue the objectives set out in the *principles* and *criteria*.
- III. Each Italian company with listed shares (the "issuer") adopting the Code shall provide in its corporate governance report and proprietary shareholdings ("Corporate Governance Report") accurate, concise and easily understandable information on the manner in which each single recommendation contained in the *principles* and *criteria* has been effectively implemented during the period covered by the report. If the issuer has not implemented, in whole or in part, one or more recommendations, it shall supply adequate information with regard to the reasons for the omitted or partial application. As for *principles* and *criteria* aimed at providing definitions, unless otherwise indicated and explained by the issuer, the issuer itself should be in compliance with them. In the event that *principles* and *criteria* relate to optional conduct, a description of the line of conduct followed is required, though it is not necessary to provide the reasons for the choices made.
- IV. In case of either laws or regulations that are inconsistent with certain recommendations of this Code, no information is required on the omitted or partial implementation of such recommendations.
- V. For the purposes of this Code, an issuer is deemed to belong to the FTSE-Mib index if its shares were included in the list of such an index (or of an index that might replace it in the future) in the last trading day of the fiscal year before the fiscal year covered by the annual report.
- VI. The Corporate Governance Committee (the "Committee") shall monitor the implementation of this Code by the issuers and the development of the related regulatory framework.
- VII. This Code, as approved by the Corporate Governance Committee in March 2006, was amended in March 2010, by replacing article 7 (now article 6), and was updated in December 2011, also to repeal overlaps with certain law provisions.
- VIII. Issuers are invited to implement the amendments to this Code as approved in December 2011 by the end of the fiscal year beginning in 2012, informing the market through the Corporate Governance Report to be published in the following fiscal year. The amendments relating to

the composition of the Board of Directors or the relevant committees, and notably the amendments to *criteria* 2.C.3. and 2.C.5. shall apply commencing with the first renewal of the Board of Directors taking place after the end of the fiscal year beginning in 2011. The second paragraph of *criterion* 3.C.3. applies commencing with the first renewal of the Board of Directors taking place after the end of the fiscal year beginning in 2012. Issuers belonging to FTSE-Mib index are invited to provide information relating to *criterion* 5.C.2. in the Corporate Governance Report to be published in 2012.

Article 1 - Role of the Board of Directors

Principles

- **1.P.1.** Listed companies are governed by a Board of Directors that meets at regular intervals, adopts an organisation and a modus operandi which enable it to perform its functions in an effective manner.
- **1.P.2.** The directors act and make decisions with full knowledge of the facts and autonomously pursuing and placing priority on the objective of creating value for the shareholders over a medium-long term period.

Criteria

1.C.1. The Board of Directors shall:

- examine and approve the strategic, operational and financial plans of both the issuer and the corporate group it heads, monitoring periodically the related implementation; it defines the issuer's corporate governance and the relevant group structure;
- b) define the risk profile, both as to nature and level of risks, in a manner consistent with the issuer's strategic objectives;
- evaluate the adequacy of the organizational, administrative and accounting structure of the issuer as well as of its strategically significant subsidiaries in particular with regard to the internal control system and risk management;
- d) specify the frequency, in any case no less than once every three months, with which the delegated bodies must report to the Board on the activities performed in the exercise of the powers delegated to them;
- e) evaluate the general performance of the company, paying particular attention to the information received from the delegated bodies and periodically comparing the results achieved with those planned;
- f) resolve upon transactions to be carried out by the issuer or its controlled companies having a significant impact on the issuer's strategies, profitability, assets and liabilities or financial position; to this end, the Board shall establish general criteria for identifying the material transactions;
- h) perform at least annually an evaluation of the performance of the Board of Directors and its committees, as well as their size and composition, taking into account the professional competence, experience (including managerial experience) gender of its members and number of years as director. Where the Board of Directors avails of consultants for such a self-assessment, the Corporate Governance Report shall provide information on

- other services, if any, performed by such consultants to the issuer or to companies having a control relationship with the issuer;
- i) taking into account the outcome of the evaluation mentioned under the previous item g), report its view to shareholders on the professional profiles deemed appropriate for the composition of the Board of Directors, prior to its nomination;
- j) provide information in the Corporate Governance Report on (1) its composition, indicating for each member the relevant role held within the Board of Directors (including by way of example, chairman or chief executive officer, as defined by article 2), the main professional characteristics as well as the duration of his/her office since the first appointment; (2) the application of article 1 of this Code and, in particular, on the number and average duration of meetings of the Board and of the executive committee, if any, held during the fiscal year, as well as the related percentage of attendance of each director; (3) how the self-assessment procedure as at previous item g) has developed;
- k) in order to ensure the correct handling of corporate information, adopt, upon proposal of the managing director or the chairman of the Board of Directors, internal procedures for the internal handling and disclosure to third parties of information concerning the issuer, having special regard to price sensitive information.
- **1.C.2.** The directors shall accept the directorship when they deem that they can devote the necessary time to the diligent performance of their duties, also taking into account the commitment relating to their own work and professional activity, the number of offices held as director or statutory auditor in other companies listed on regulated markets (including foreign markets) in financial companies, banks, insurance companies or companies of a considerably large size. The Board shall record, on the basis of the information received from the directors, on a yearly basis, the offices of director or statutory auditor held by the directors in the above-mentioned companies and include them in the Corporate Governance Report;
- **1.C.3.** The Board shall issue guidelines regarding the maximum number of offices as director or statutory auditor for the types of companies referred to in the above paragraph that may be considered compatible with an effective performance of a director's duties, taking into account the attendance by the directors to the committees set up within the Board. To this end, the Board identifies the general criteria, differentiating them according to the commitment entailed by each role (executive or non-executive or independent director), as well as the nature and size of the companies in which the offices are performed, plus whether or not the companies are members of the issuer's group.
- **1.C.4.** If the shareholders' meeting, when dealing with organisational needs, authorises, on a general, preventive basis, derogations from the rule prohibiting competition, as per Article 2390 of the Italian Civil Code, then the Board of Directors shall evaluate each such issue, reporting, at the next shareholders' meeting, the critical ones if any. To this end, each director shall

inform the Board, upon accepting his/her appointment, of any activities exercised in competition with the issuer and of any effective modifications that ensue.

- **1.C.5.** The chairman of the Board of Directors shall ensure that the documentation relating to the agenda of the Board are made available to directors and statutory auditors in a timely manner prior to the Board meeting. The Board of Directors shall provide information in the Corporate Governance Report on the promptness and completeness of the pre-meeting information, providing details, *inter alia*, on the prior notice usually deemed adequate for the supply of documents and specifying whether such prior notice has been usually observed.
- **1.C.6.** The chairman of the Board of Directors, also upon request of one or more directors, may request to the managing directors that certain executives of the issuer or the companies belonging to its group, in charge of the pertinent management areas related to the Board agenda, attend the meetings of the Board, in order to provide appropriate supplemental information on the items on the agenda.

Comment

The Committee believes that the Board of Directors has the primary responsibility for determining and pursuing the strategic objectives of the issuer and of the group of which it is a member or which it heads. The chairman is responsible for promoting the constant performance of such duty.

The decisions of each director are autonomous, to the extent he/she makes his/her choices with free judgement, doing so in the interest of the issuer and the generality of the shareholders. Therefore, even when management choices have been evaluated, addressed or otherwise influenced in advance, within the limits and in compliance with the applicable provisions of law, by those exercising management and coordination activities, or by subjects participating in a syndication agreement, each director shall pass resolutions in autonomy, adopting resolutions which may, reasonably lead – primarily – to the creation of value for the generality of the shareholders in the medium-long term.

The appointment of one or more managing directors, or of an executive committee, plus the fact that the business activity is exercised through several subsidiaries, does not relieve the Board of the tasks entrusted to it hereunder. Notwithstanding the absence of precise statutory restrictions on this subject, the Board is required to delegate powers in such a way that the Board does not appear to be divested of its prerogatives. Moreover, the issuers shall adopt adequate measures to ensure that subsidiaries submit to the Board of the parent company, for prior review, material transactions, subject to the principle of autonomous management, in the event that the subsidiary is also a listed company.

Among the matters reserved to the competence of the Board, this article mentions the evaluation of the adequacy of the organizational, administrative and accounting structure of the issuer and of its subsidiaries having strategic relevance; it is pointed out that such relevance should be evaluated with reference to criteria that do not concern only the size, to be mentioned in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board of Directors is also required to carry out a self-assessment, mainly on the size, composition and functioning of both itself and its committees.

In carrying out such an assessment, it is required to verify that the various members (executive, non executive, independent) and the professional and managerial competences, including international experience, are adequately represented, taking into account also the benefits that could stem from the presence of different genders, age and seniority.

The Committee recommends that issuers adopt internal procedures for handling, safely and confidentially, information relating to them, notably price sensitive information. Such a procedure is also aimed at preventing that its disclosure occurs in an untimely manner or selectively (*i.e.* anticipated only to certain persons, such as shareholders, journalists or analysts) or in an incomplete or inadequate manner.

In carrying out their duties, the directors shall review the information received from the delegated bodies, ask the same for any clarifications, elaborations or supplements that are deemed necessary or appropriate for a complete and correct evaluation of the facts submitted to the review of the Board.

The chairman of the Board of Directors shall endeavour to ensure that the necessary time is allowed for an effective discussion of the items on the agenda during the meetings, and shall promote contributions from the directors; furthermore, he/she shall ensure, also through the help of the Secretary to the Board, pre-meeting information is supplied in a timely and accurate manner, provided that all the measures for ensuring confidentiality of the information and data so supplied are adopted. If the documents supplied are voluminous and complex, they can be accompanied by a summary setting out the most significant areas in order to effectively resolve upon the items on the agenda, provided that such a summary cannot be deemed to replace in any manner the complete documentation supplied to directors.

In order to enhance the Board meetings which represent moments for directors (and, particularly, non executive ones) to collect adequate information on the company's management, managing directors shall ensure that executives in charge of the pertinent management areas related to the Board agenda are available to attend such meetings, upon request.

Article 2 - Composition of the Board of Directors

Principles

- **2.P.1.** The Board of Directors shall be made up of executive and non-executive directors, who should be adequately competent and professional.
- **2.P.2.** Non-executive directors shall bring their specific expertise to Board discussions and contribute to the adoption of fully informed decisions paying particular care to the areas where conflicts of interest may exist.
- **2.P.3.** The number, competence, authority and time availability of non-executive directors shall be such as to ensure that their judgement may have a significant impact on the taking of Board's decisions.
- **2.P.4.** It is appropriate to avoid the concentration of corporate offices in one single individual.
- **2.P.5.** Where the Board of Directors has delegated management powers to the chairman, it shall disclose adequate information in the Corporate Governance Report on the reasons for such organisational choice.

Criteria

- **2.C.1.** The following are qualified executive directors for the issuer:
- the managing directors of the issuer or a subsidiary having strategic relevance, including the relevant chairmen when these are granted individual management powers or when they play a specific role in the definition of the business strategies;
- the directors vested with management duties within the issuer or in one of its subsidiaries having strategic relevance, or in a controlling company when the office concerns also the issuer;
- the directors who are members of the executive committee of the issuer, when no managing director is appointed or when the participation in the executive committee, taking into account the frequency of the meetings and the scope of the relevant resolutions, entails, as a matter of fact, the systematic involvement of its members in the day-to-day management of the issuer.

The granting of deputy powers or powers in cases of urgency to directors, who are not provided with management powers is not enough, *per se*, to cause them to be identified as executive directors, provided however, that such powers are not actually exercised with considerable frequency.

2.C.2. The directors shall know the duties and responsibilities relating to their office.

The chairman of the Board of Directors shall use his best efforts for causing the directors and the statutory auditors, after the election and during their mandate, to participate in initiatives aimed at providing them with an adequate knowledge of the business sector in which the issuer runs its activity, of the corporate dynamics and the relevant evolutions, as well as the relevant regulatory framework.

2.C.3. The Board shall designate an independent director as lead independent director, in the following circumstances: (i) in the event that the chairman of the Board of Directors is the chief executive officer of the company; (ii) in the event that the office of chairman is held by the person controlling the issuer.

The Board of Directors of issuers belonging to FTSE-Mib index shall designate a lead independent director if so requested by the majority of independent directors, except in the case of a different and grounded assessment carried out by the Board to be reported in the Corporate Governance Report.

2.C.4. The lead independent director:

- (a) represents a reference and coordination point for the requests and contributions of non-executive directors and, in particular, those who are independent pursuant to Article 3 below;
- (b) cooperates with the Chairman of the Board of Directors in order to guarantee that directors receive timely and complete information.
- **2.C.5.** The chief executive officer of issuer (A) shall not be appointed director of another issuer (B) not belonging to the same corporate group, in the event that the chief executive officer of issuer (B) is a director of issuer (A).

Comment

The Committee wishes that the shareholders, when preparing the lists and subsequently appointing directors, evaluate, also in light of the opinion expressed by the Board on such an item, the professional characteristics, the experience, including managerial competencies, and the gender of the candidates, in relation to the size of the issuer, the complexity and specificity of the business sector in which the issuer operates, as well as the size of the Board of Directors.

The non-executive directors enrich the Board's discussion with competences formed outside the company, having a general strategic character or a specific technical one. Such competences permit to analyse the different matters under discussion from different standpoints and, therefore, contribute to nourish the dialectics that is the distinctive precondition for a meditated informed corporate decision.

The contribution of non-executive directors appears to be useful on such subject matters in which the interests of executive directors and those of the shareholders may not coincide, such as the remuneration of the executive directors and in relation to the internal control and risk management systems.

With particular reference to the efficiency of the committees set up within the Board of Directors, issuer's shareholders may consider the need to ensure management continuity through a diversification of the expiry of all or part of the Board members, provided that this does not jeopardize the different shareholders' rights.

Within the Board of Directors, the figure of the chairman, to whom law and practice entrust duties of organization of the Board's works and of liaison between executive and non-executive directors, takes up a fundamental importance.

The international best practice recommends to avoid the concentration of offices in one single individual without adequate counterbalances; in particular, the separation is often recommended of the roles of chairman and chief executive officer, the latter meant as a director who, by virtue of the delegations of powers received and the concrete exercise of these, is the main responsible officer for the management of the issuer (CEO). The Committee is of the opinion that, also in Italy, the separation of the above-mentioned roles may strengthen the characteristics of impartiality and balance that are required from the chairman of the Board of Directors. The Committee, in acknowledging that the existence of situations of accumulation of the two roles may satisfy, in particular in issuers of smaller size, valuable organizational requirements, recommends that, should this be the case, the figure of the lead independent director be created.

The Committee also recommends the designation of a lead independent director in either the event that the chairman is the person controlling the issuer - a circumstance which, *per se*, takes up no negative characteristics, but which requires, however, the creation of adequate counterweights - or, as far as companies belonging to FTSE-Mib index are concerned, it is requested by the majority of directors.

The lead independent director is granted, inter alia, with the power to convene, autonomously or upon demand of other directors, appropriate meetings of independent directors only for the discussion of subject matters judged of interest regarding the functioning of the Board of Directors or the company's operations.

Finally, the Committee recommends that the chief executive officer of an Italian company listed on a regulated market (the "issuer") (A) shall not be appointed director of another issuer (B) not belonging to the same corporate group, in the event that the chief executive officer of issuer (B) is a director of the issuer (A). Such circumstances may cause potential conflicts of interests; however, it is not possible to exclude that, depending on the circumstances, sometimes they may be justified.

Article 3 - Independent directors

Principles

- **3.P.1.** An adequate number of non-executive directors shall be independent, in the sense that they do not maintain, directly or indirectly or on behalf of third parties, nor have recently maintained any business relationships with the issuer or persons linked to the issuer, of such a significance as to influence their autonomous judgement.
- **3.P.2.** The directors' independence shall be assessed by the Board of Directors, after the appointment and, subsequently, on a yearly basis. The results of the assessments of the Board shall be communicated to the market.

Criteria

- **3.C.1.** The Board of Directors shall evaluate the independence of its non-executive members having regard more to the contents than to the form and keeping in mind that a director usually does not appear independent in the following events, to be considered merely as an example and not limited to:
- a) if he/she controls, directly or indirectly, the issuer also through subsidiaries, trustees or third parties, or is able to exercise over the issuer dominant influence, or participates in a shareholders' agreement through which one or more persons can exercise a control or dominant influence over the issuer;
- b) if he/she is, or has been in the preceding three fiscal years, a significant representative of the issuer, of a subsidiary having strategic relevance or of a company under common control with the issuer, or of a company or entity controlling the issuer or able to exercise over the same a considerable influence, also jointly with others through a shareholders agreement;
- c) if he/she has, or had in the preceding fiscal year, directly or indirectly (e.g. through subsidiaries or companies of which he is a significant representative, or in the capacity as partner of a professional firm or of a consulting company) a significant commercial, financial or professional relationship:
 - with the issuer, one of its subsidiaries, or any of its significant representatives;
 - with a subject who, also jointly with others through a shareholders' agreement, controls the issuer, or in case of a company or an entity with the relevant significant representatives;

or is, or has been in the preceding three fiscal years, an employee of the above-mentioned subjects;

- d) if he/she receives, or has received in the preceding three fiscal years, from the issuer or a subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, a significant additional remuneration (compared to the "fixed" remuneration of non-executive director of the issuer and to remuneration of the membership in the committees that are recommended by the Code) also in the form of participation in incentive plans linked to the company's performance, including stock option plans;
- e) if he/she was a director of the issuer for more than nine years in the last twelve years;
- f) if he/she is vested with the executive director office in another company in which an executive director of the issuer holds the office of director;
- g) if he/she is shareholder or quotaholder or director of a legal entity belonging to the same network as the company appointed for the auditing of the issuer;
- h) if he/she is a close relative of a person who is in any of the positions listed in the above paragraphs.
- **3.C.2.** For the purpose of the above, the chairman of the entity, the chairman of the Board of Directors, the executive directors and key management personnel of the relevant company or entity, must be considered as "significant representatives".
- **3.C.3.** The number and competences of independent directors shall be adequate in relation to the size of the Board and the activity performed by the issuer; moreover, they must be such as to enable the constitution of committees within the Board, according to the indications set out in the Code.

As for issuers belonging to FTSE-Mib index, at least one third of the Board of Directors members shall be made up of independent directors. If such a number is not an integer, it shall be rounded down.

Anyway, independent directors shall not be less than two.

3.C.4. After the appointment of a director who qualifies himself/herself as independent, and subsequently, upon the occurrence of circumstances affecting the independence requirement and in any case at least once a year, the Board of Directors shall evaluate, on the basis of the information provided by the same director or available to the issuer, those relations which could be or appear to be such as to jeopardize the autonomy of judgement of such director. The Board of Directors shall notify the result of its evaluations, after the appointment, through a press release to the market and, subsequently, within the Corporate Governance Report.

In the documents mentioned above, the Board of Directors shall:

- disclose whether they adopted criteria for assessing the independence which are different from the ones recommended by the Code, also with reference to individual directors, and if so, specifying the reasons;
- describe quantitative and/or qualitative criteria used, if any, in assessing the relevance of relationships under evaluation.

3.C.5. The Board of statutory auditors shall ascertain, in the framework of the duties attributed to it by the law, the correct application of the assessment criteria and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors for evaluating the independence of its members. The result of such controls is notified to the market in the Corporate Governance Report or in the report of the Board of statutory auditors to the shareholders' meeting.

3.C.6. The independent directors shall meet at least once a year without the presence of the other directors.

Comment

Independence of judgement is required of all directors, executive and non-executive alike: directors who are conscious of the duties and rights associated with their position always bring independent judgement to their work.

In particular, non-executive directors may provide an independent unbiased judgement on the proposed resolutions, since they are not directly involved in the operational running of the company.

The most delicate aspect in issuers with a broad shareholder base consists in aligning the interests of executive directors with those of the shareholders. In such companies, therefore, the predominant aspect is their independence from the executive directors.

In issuers with concentrated ownership, or where a controlling group of shareholders can be identified, the problem of aligning the interests of the executives directors with those of the shareholders continues to exist, but there emerges the need for some directors to be independent also from the controlling shareholders, or shareholders which are, in any case, able to exercise a dominant influence.

The qualification of a non-executive director as independent director does not express a judgement of value, but it rather indicates an actually existing situation: the absence, as the rule states, of any relation with the issuer, or with subjects linked to the issuer, such as to actually affect, due to their importance, to be evaluated in relation to the individual subject, the independence of judgement and the unbiased assessment of the management activity.

The criteria set out some of the most common elements that are symptomatic of absence of independence. Such elements are set out by way of example and are not binding on the Board of Directors, which may adopt, for the purpose of its evaluations, additional or different, in whole or in part, criteria from those mentioned above, giving adequate information to the market together with the relevant reasons. The Board of statutory auditors, in its control of the modalities of concrete implementation of the corporate governance rules, is demanded to verify the correct application of the criteria adopted by the Board and of the procedures of assessment utilized by it. Such procedures make reference to the information provided by the single parties concerned or, however, at disposal of the issuer, since no appropriate investigation activity aimed at identifying any material relations is demanded from the issuer.

The non-exhaustive or mandatory character of the events set out in the criteria implies the need to review also additional circumstances, not expressly contemplated, which might appear, however, likely to negatively affect the independence of directors.

For example, the ownership of a (direct or indirect) shareholding of such an amount as not to determine the control or dominant influence over the issuer and not subjected to a shareholders' agreement, could be considered suitable to jeopardize, in particular circumstances, the independence of a director.

The appointment of an independent director of the issuer in companies controlling it or controlled by it does not cause the loss of independence requirement: in such cases, it should be considered, amongst other things, whether the holding of several offices could determine a total remuneration such as to hinder the independence of the director; however, it is appropriate to assess on a case-by-case basis the extent of any additional fee received by reason of each of such offices.

Significant representatives of a company controlling the issuer or controlled by the issuer (if it is strategically significant) or under common control could be considered not independent irrespective of the amount of the relevant remunerations, by reason of the duties entrusted to them. Also in this event, the Board of Directors is required to make a substantial evaluation: therefore, by way of example, a director who is vested with the office of non-executive chairman of the controlling company or of a subsidiary, could be considered independent in the issuer, if he had received such appointment because he is "super partes"; vice-versa, a director could appear to be non-independent, if he actually plays, also in absence of formal delegations of powers, a guidance role in the definition of strategies of the issuer, of a controlling company or a subsidiary having strategic relevance or he is the chairman of a shareholders' agreement through which one or more entities can control or have a significant influence on the issuer.

As regards commercial, financial and professional relations directly or indirectly entertained by the director with the issuer or other subjects linked to the issuer, the Committee does not deem it useful to set out in the Code precise criteria, on the basis of which their materiality must be judged. The issuer is required to disclose to the market quantitative and/or qualitative criteria used, if any.

In any event, the Board of Directors should evaluate such relationships on the basis of their significance, both in absolute terms and with reference to the economic-financial situation of the party concerned. Any agreement in favour of the director (or subjects linked to the directors) containing any financial or contractual conditions not aligned with those of the market, is to be considered material. Moreover, the fact that the relationship is governed at market conditions does not entail, *per se*, a judgement of independence, since it is, however, necessary, as already mentioned, to evaluate the relevance of the relationship.

Those relations which, even though they are not significant from an economic standpoint, are particularly material for the reputation of the director concerned or relate to important transactions of the issuer (just think to the

case of a company or professional, who takes up an important role in an acquisition or listing transaction) should also be taken into consideration.

From a subjective standpoint, in addition to the relations directly entertained with significant representatives (of the issuer, subsidiaries of the issuer or controlling subjects), the relations maintained with subjects however traceable to such representatives, such as, by way of example, companies controlled by them, may also be taken into consideration.

The Committee also believes that, in certain particular circumstances, the existence of relations other than economic ones, may be material. For example, in issuers subject to public control, any political activity performed on a continuing basis by a director could be taken into consideration for the purpose of evaluating his/her independence. However, the so-called courtesy relationships are not relevant.

Also for the definition of the relations of a "family" nature, it is appropriate to rely on the prudent evaluation of the Board of Directors, which might consider as not relevant, taking into account the actual circumstances, the existence of a close family or in-law relationship. Parents, children, the spouse who is not legally separated, the companion living together and family members living together with a person, who could not be considered as an independent director, should be judged theoretically as being not independent.

The customary structure of Italian management bodies entails the possibility that also directors who are members of the executive committee of the issuer are qualified as non-executive and independent, since they are not provided with individual management powers.

A different evaluation appears, however, appropriate when a managing director is not appointed or when the participation in the executive committee, taking into account the frequency of the meetings and the scope of the relevant resolutions, entails, as a matter of fact, the systematic involvement of its members in the current running of the issuer or determines a considerable increase in the relevant remuneration compared to that of the other non-executive directors.

The Committee believes that the presence in the Board of Directors of directors who may be qualified as "independent" is the most suitable solution for guaranteeing the composition of the interests of all the shareholders, both majority and minority ones. In this respect, in the correct exercise of the rights of appointment of directors, it is possible that the independent directors are proposed by the same controlling shareholders. On the other side, the circumstance that a director is expressed by one or more minority shareholders does not imply, *per se*, a judgement of independence of such director: these characteristics must be verified in concrete, according to the principles and criteria outlined above.

Article 4 - Internal committees of the Board of Directors

Principle

4.P.1. The Board of Directors shall establish among its members one or more committees with proposing and consultative functions according to what set out in the articles below.

Criteria

- **4.C.1.** The establishment and functioning of the committees governed by the Code shall meet the following criteria:
- a) committees shall be made up of at least three members. However, in those issuers whose Board of Directors is made up of no more than eight members, committees may be made up of two directors only, provided, however, that they are both independent. The committees' activities shall be coordinated by a chairman;
- b) the duties of individual committees are provided by the resolution by which they are established and may be supplemented or amended by a subsequent resolution of the Board of Directors;
- c) the functions that the Code attributes to different committees may be distributed in a different manner or demanded from a number of committees lower than the envisaged one, provided that for their composition the rules are complied with those indicated from time to time by the Code and is ensured the achievement of the underlying objectives;
- d) minutes shall be drafted of the meetings of each committee;
- e) in the performance of their duties, the committees have the right to access the necessary company's information and functions, according to the procedures established by the Board of Directors, as well as to avail themselves of external advisers. The issuer shall make available to the committees adequate financial resources for the performance of their duties, within the limits of the budget approved by the Board;
- f) persons who are not members of the committee, including other Board members or persons belonging to issuer's structure, may participate in the meetings of each committee upon invitation of the same, with reference to individual items on the agenda;
- g) the issuer shall provide adequate information, in the Corporate Governance Report, on the establishment and composition of committees, the contents of the mandate entrusted to them, as well as, on the basis of the indications provided for by each committee, the activity actually performed during the fiscal year, the number of meetings held, their average duration and the relevant percentage of participation of each member.

4.C.2 The establishment of one or more committees may be avoided and the relevant duties may be assigned to the Board of Directors, under the coordination of the Chairman and provided that: (i) independent directors are at least half of the Board of Directors members; if the number of the Board members is odd, a rounding down to the lower unit shall be carried out; (ii) adequate time is dedicated during the Board meetings to actions that the Code requires the Committees to carry out, and this circumstance is disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report; (iii) as far as the control and risk committee is concerned, the issuer is neither controlled by another listed company nor it is subject to direction and coordination.

The Board of Directors describes in detail in the Corporate Governance Report the reasons underlying the choice not to establish one or more committees; in particular, it provides adequate grounds for the choice not to establish the risks and control committee in consideration of the complexity level of the issuer and the sector in which it operates. In addition, the Board shall periodically reassess the choice made.

Comment

The Board of Directors shall perform its duties collectively.

An organizational procedure that may increase the efficiency and effectiveness of its works is represented by the establishment among its members of specific committees having consultative and proposing functions. Such committees, as it appears from the best Italian and international practices, far from replacing the Board in the performance of its duties, may usefully carry out a preliminary role – which is represented by the formulation of proposals, recommendations and opinions – for the purpose of enabling the Board to adopt its decisions with a better knowledge of the facts.

Such role may be particularly effective in relation to the handling of matters, which appear to be delicate also because they are a source of potential conflicts of interest.

For this reason, in the articles below, the Code recommends the establishment of a nomination committee (Article 5), a remuneration committee (Article 6) and a control and risk committee (Article 7), defining their composition and competences.

This article contains general indications concerning the three committees mentioned above. Such indications are inspired by the need of flexibility, which takes into account the features of each issuer, in relation, for example, to the size of its Board of Directors.

With regard, in particular, to the number of committees, it is clarified that, in the presence of organizational requirements, the Board may group or distribute the functions assigned to the committees provided by the Code in the manner that it deems more appropriate, in compliance with the rules relating to the compositions of each committee. By way of example, a nomination committee and a remuneration committee complying with the composition requirements set forth for both the committees may be established.

In cases of both combining the various duties in a unique committee and reserving such duties to the *plenum* of the Board of Directors, the Board is required to explain in its Corporate Governance Report, the reasons that led it to choose an alternative approach and how this approach permits to achieve anyway the goals fixed by the Code for each committee.

If the choice is not to establish the control and risk committee, factors to be taken into special account relate to the complexity and the business sector of the issuer, including by way of example the following ones: the nature of the business and its belonging to a regulated sector, the turnover or the assets of the financial statements, the number of employees, the market capitalization, the number and location of participated or controlled legal entities, the business operation in regions or countries exposed to certain risk factors, the number of Board of Directors members, their professional qualification and their time availability.

The powers of individual committees, in particular those having for their object the direct access to the necessary company's information and departments for the performance of their duties, are determined by the Board in the framework of the mandate conferred on them.

Article 5 - Appointment of directors

Principle

5.P.1. The Board of Directors shall establish among its members a committee to propose candidates for appointment to the position of director, made up, for the majority, of independent directors.

Criteria

- **5.C.1.** The committee to propose candidates for appointment to the position of director shall be vested with the following functions:
 - a) to express opinions to the Board of Directors regarding its size and composition and express recommendations with regard to the professional skills necessary within the Board as well with regard to the topics indicated by articles 1.C.3. and 1.C.4.;
 - b) to submit the Board of Directors candidates for directors offices in case of co-optation, should the replacement of independent directors be necessary.
- **5.C.2.** The Board of Directors shall evaluate whether to adopt a plan for the succession of executive directors. In the event of adoption of such a plan, the issuer shall disclose it in the Corporate Governance Report. The review on the preparation of the above mentioned plan shall be carried out by the nomination committee or by another committee established within the Board of Directors in charge of this task.

Comment

The Committee recommends that for the appointment of directors a procedure be followed, which should ensure transparency and a balanced composition of the Board. In particular, it is appropriate that the slates of candidates for directors offices mention their eligibility, if any, to be qualified as independent pursuant to article 3 of the Code, provided that the Board of Directors remains the competent body for evaluating the independence of its own members. The Committee wishes that a director who has expressed his/her eligibility as independent undertakes to maintain it during his/her office and, if necessary, to resign, it being understood that the Board of Directors has the faculty to resolve upon immediate co-optation.

Issuers are required to establish, within the Board of Directors, a nomination committee, made up for the majority of independent directors, vested with one or more of the functions listed in the criteria.

The Committee is aware of the fact that the nomination committee institution is historically born in systems characterized by a high degree of fragmentation of the shareholding structure, for the purpose of ensuring an adequate level of independence of the directors with respect to the management. Above all, the

Committee acknowledges that in the presence of a large shareholder base it performs a function of particular importance in the identification of the candidates for the office of director. However, as for the issuers that are characterised by a high level of proprietary concentration, the nomination committee may perform a useful consultative and advisory role in the identification of the best composition of the Board, indicating the professional figures whose presence may favour a correct and effective functioning, giving possible contributions for the preparation of the succession plan of executive directors.

Should the issuer adopt a succession plan, the Corporate Governance Report shall disclose whether specific mechanisms are set forth in the succession plan in case of early replacement, the corporate bodies and the persons that are in charge of the preparation of the plan, as well as the manners and timing of its review.

Article 6 - Remuneration of directors

Principles

- **6.P.1.** The remuneration of directors and key management personnel shall be established in a sufficient amount to attract, retain and motivate people with the professional skills necessary to successfully manage the issuer.
- **6.P.2.** The remuneration of executive directors and key management personnel shall be defined in such a way as to align their interests with pursuing the priority objective of the creation of value for the shareholders in a medium-long term timeframe. With regard to directors with managerial powers or performing, also *de-facto*, functions related to business management, as well as with regard to key management personnel, a significant part of the remuneration shall be linked to achieving specific performance objectives, possibly including non-economic objectives, identified in advance and determined consistently with the guidelines contained in the policy described in principle 6.P.4.

The remuneration of non-executive directors shall be proportionate to the commitment required from each of them, also taking into account their possible participation in one or more committees.

- **6.P.3.** The Board of Directors shall establish among its members a remuneration committee, made up of independent directors. Alternatively, the committee may be made up of non executive directors, the majority of which to be independent; in this case, the chairman of the committee is selected among the independent directors. At least one committee member shall have an adequate knowledge and experience in finance or remuneration policies, to be assessed by the Board of Directors at the time of his/her appointment.
- **6.P.4.** The Board of Directors shall, upon proposal of the remuneration committee, establish a policy for the remuneration of directors and key management personnel.

Criteria

- **6.C.1.** The policy for the remuneration of executive directors and other directors covering particular offices shall define guidelines on the issues and consistently with the criteria detailed below:
 - a) the non-variable component and the variable component are properly balanced according to issuer's strategic objectives and risk management policy, taking into account the business sector in which it operates and the nature of the business carried out;
 - b) upper limits for variable components shall be established;

- c) the non-variable component shall be sufficient to reward the director when the variable component was not delivered because of the failure to achieve the performance objectives specified by the Board of Directors;
- d) the performance objectives i.e. the economic performance and any other specific objectives to which the payment of variable components (including the objectives for the share-based compensation plans) is linked shall be predetermined, measurable and linked to the creation of value for the shareholders in the medium-long term;
- e) the payment of a significant portion of the variable component of the remuneration shall be deferred for an appropriate period of time; the amount of that portion and the length of that deferral shall be consistent with the characteristics of the issuer's business and associated risk profile;
- f) termination payments shall not exceed a fixed amount or fixed number of years of annual remuneration. Termination payments shall not be paid if the termination is due to inadequate performance.
- **6.C.2.** In preparing plans for share-based remuneration, the Board of Directors shall ensure that:
 - a) shares, options and all other rights granted to directors to buy shares or to be remunerated on the basis of share price movements shall have an average vesting period of at least three years;
 - b) the vesting referred to in paragraph a) shall be subject to predetermined and measurable performance criteria;
 - c) directors shall retain a certain number of shares granted or purchased through the exercise of the rights referred to in paragraph a), until the end of their mandate.
- **6.C.3.** The criteria 6.C.1 and 6.C.2 shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, also to the definition by the bodies entrusted with that task of the remuneration of key management personnel.

Any incentive plan for the person in charge of internal audit and for the person responsible for the preparation of the corporate financial documents shall be consistent with their role.

- **6.C.4.** The remuneration of non-executive directors shall not be other than for an insignificant portion linked to the economic results achieved by the issuer. Non-executive directors shall not be beneficiaries of share-based compensation plans, unless it is so decided by the annual shareholders' meeting, which shall also give the relevant reasons.
- **6.C.5.** The remuneration committee shall:
 - periodically evaluate the adequacy, overall consistency and actual application of the policy for the remuneration of directors and key management personnel, also on the basis of the information

provided by the managing directors; it shall formulate proposals to the Board of Directors in that regard;

- submit proposals or issues opinions to the Board of Directors for the remuneration of executive directors and other directors who cover particular offices as well as for the identification of performance objectives related to the variable component of that remuneration; it shall monitor the implementation of decisions adopted by the Board of Directors and verify, in particular, the actual achievement of performance objectives.
- **6.C.6.** No director shall participate in meetings of the remuneration committee in which proposals are formulated to the Board of Directors relating to his/her remuneration.
- **6.C.7.** When using the services of an external consultant in order to obtain information on market standards for remuneration policies, the remuneration committee shall previously verify that the consultant concerned is not in a position which might compromise its independence.
- **6.C.8.** Issuers are encouraged to apply article 6, as amended in March 2010, by the end of the year that begins in 2011, and to inform the market in the Corporate Governance Report to be published during 2012.

The recommendations contained in the criteria 6.C.1, 6.C.2 and 6.C.3 shall apply without prejudice to the rights acquired from contracts or regulations adopted before March 31, 2010. The issuer shall inform the market in the Corporate Governance Report (or with the different formalities which may be provided by applicable law) of any case in which those recommendations are not applicable due to the contractual arrangements referred to above.

Comment

The remuneration policy establishes the guidelines according to which the remunerations shall be determined by the Board of Directors with reference to the remuneration of executive directors and other directors covering particular offices, and by the managing directors with reference to the key management personnel. The statutory auditors, in expressing the opinion pursuant to article 2389, paragraph 3, of the Italian Civil Code, shall also verify the consistency of the proposals with the policy on remuneration.

The structure of the remuneration of executive directors and key management personnel should promote the sustainability of the issuer in the medium-long term and ensure that the remuneration is based on results actually delivered. To this end, it is recommended that the variable components are linked to predetermined and measurable criteria; the remuneration policy may not determine in detail the formula expressing the correlation between variable component and objectives: it is sufficient that the policy indicates the elements (in particular the

economic variables) to which the variable components are linked and their methods of measurement.

The Committee also recommends that the remuneration policy establishes limits on the variable component, which need not necessarily be construed as caps expressed in absolute values.

A reference to the average remuneration for similar offices may be useful to define the level of remuneration; however it should also be consistent with adequate parameters linked to the performance of the company.

The Committee believes that the share-based compensation plans, if properly structured, can also be a suitable way to align the interests of executive directors and key management personnel with those of the shareholders. The Code recommends the adoption of certain measures aimed at discouraging their beneficiaries from seeking to increase the short term market value of the shares, undermining the creation of value in the medium-long term.

In particular, it is recommended that a predetermined portion of the shares granted or purchased should remain locked-in until the end of the mandate. This constraint, however, should not apply to the shares already held by the beneficiaries of the plan. With reference to the key management personnel that have an open-ended contract with the company, the plan should identify an appropriate expiration date of the constraint, for example three years from the date of grant or purchase of shares.

Some share-based compensation plans (e.g. phantom stock plans or phantom stock option plans) do not actually provide the assignment or purchase of shares, but only a cash settlement linked to the shares' performance. In such cases it is necessary to establish appropriate mechanisms for share retention, e.g. by providing that a portion of the cash awarded shall be reinvested into shares of the company that, according with section 6.C.2, letter c), shall be maintained until the end of the mandate.

The complexity of the remuneration issues require that the related decisions of the Board of Directors shall be supported by the preliminary activity and proposals of a remuneration committee.

According to the general recommendations applicable to all committees pursuant to the criterion 4.C.1, e), the remuneration committee, in carrying out its tasks, shall ensure appropriate links with all relevant functional and operational departments of the issuer. It is also appropriate that the chairman of the Board of statutory auditors or another statutory auditor designated by the chairman of the Board participates in the works of the committee; the remaining statutory auditors are allowed to attend.

In the performance of its duties, the remuneration committee should use the services of external consultants that are experts on compensation policies. Such consultants shall not simultaneously provide the human resources department, the directors or the key management personnel, with significant services which might compromise their independence.

The remuneration committee shall report to the shareholders on the exercise of its functions; for this purpose the chairman or another committee member should be present to the annual shareholders' meeting.

Article 7 - Internal control and risk management system

Principles

- **7.P.1.** Each issuer shall adopt an internal control and risk management system consisting of policies, procedures and organizational structures aimed at identifying, measuring, managing and monitoring the main risks. Such a system shall be integral to the organizational and corporate governance framework adopted by the issuer and shall take into consideration the reference model and the best practices that are applied both at national and international level.
- **7.P.2.** An effective internal control and risk management system contributes to the management of the company in a manner consistent with the objectives defined by the Board of Directors, promoting an informed decision-making process. It contributes to ensuring the safeguarding of corporate assets, the efficiency and effectiveness of management procedures, the reliability of financial information and the compliance with laws and regulations, including the by-laws and internal procedures.
- **7.P.3.** The internal control and risk management system involves each of the following corporate bodies depending on their related responsibilities:
 - a) the Board of Directors, that shall provide strategic guidance and evaluation on the overall adequacy of the system, identifying within the Board:
 - (i) one or more directors to be charged with the task of establishing and maintaining an effective internal control and risk management system (hereinafter, the "director in charge of the internal control and risk management system"), and
 - (ii) a control and risk committee in line with the requirements set forth by principle 7.P.4., to be charged with the task of supporting, on the basis of an adequate control process, the evaluations and decisions to be made by the Board of Directors in relation to the internal control and risk management system, as well as to the approval of the periodical financial reports;
 - b) the person in charge of internal audit, entrusted with the task to verify the functioning and adequacy of the internal control and risk management system;
 - c) the other roles and business functions having specific tasks with regard to internal control and risk management, organised depending on the company's size, complexity and risk profile;
 - d) the Board of statutory auditors, also as "audit committee", which is responsible for oversight of the internal control and risk management

system.

Each issuer shall provide for coordination methods between the above mentioned bodies in order to enhance the efficiency of the internal control and risk management system and reduce activities overlapping.

7.P.4. The control and risk committee is made up of independent directors. Alternatively, the committee can be made up of non executive directors, the majority of which being independent ones; in this case, the chairman of the committee is selected among the independent directors. If the issuer is controlled by another listed company or is subject to the direction and coordination activity of another company, the committee shall be made up exclusively of independent directors. At least one member of the committee is required to have an adequate experience in the area of accounting and finance or risk management, to be assessed by the Board of Directors at the time of appointment.

Criteria

- **7.C.1.** The Board of Directors, with the opinion of the control and risk committee, shall:
 - a) define the guidelines of the internal control and risk management system, so that the main risks concerning the issuer and its subsidiaries are correctly identified and adequately measured, managed and monitored, determining, moreover, the level of compatibility of such risks with the management of the company in a manner consistent with its strategic objectives;
 - b) evaluate, at least on an annual basis, the adequacy of the internal control and risk management system taking into account the characteristics of the company and its risk profile, as well as its effectiveness;
 - c) approves, at least on an annual basis, the plan drafted by the person in charge of internal audit, after hearing the Board of statutory auditors and the director in charge of the internal control system;
 - d) describe, in the Corporate Governance Report, the main features of the internal control and risk management system, expressing the evaluation on its adequacy;
 - e) after hearing the Board of statutory auditors, it assesses the findings reported by the external auditor in the suggestions letter, if any, and in the report on the main issues resulting from the auditing.

The Board of Directors shall, upon proposal of the director in charge of the internal control and risk management system, subject to the favourable opinion of the control and risk committee, as well as after hearing the Board of statutory auditors:

- appoint and revoke the person in charge of the internal audit function;

- ensure that such a person is provided with the adequate resources for the fulfilment of his/her responsibilities;
- define the relevant remuneration consistently with company's policies.

7.C.2. The control and risk committee, when assisting the Board of Directors shall:

- a) evaluate together with the person responsible for the preparation of the corporate financial documents, after hearing the external auditors and the Board of statutory auditors, the correct application of the accounting principles, as well as their consistency for the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, in any;
- b) express opinions on specific aspects relating to the identification of the main risks for the company;
- c) review the periodic reports of the internal audit function concerning the assessment of the internal control and risk management system, as well as the other reports of the internal audit function that are particularly significant;
- d) monitor the independence, adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit function;
- e) request the internal audit function to carry out reviews of specific operational areas, giving simultaneous notice to the chairman of the Board of statutory auditors;
- f) report to the Board of Directors, at least every six months, on the occasion of the approval of the annual and half-year financial report, on the activity carried out, as well as on the adequacy of the internal control and risk management system.
- **7.C.3.** The chairman of the Board of statutory auditors or another statutory auditor designated by this chairman shall participate in the works of the control and risk committee; the remaining statutory auditors are also allowed to participate.
- **7.C.4.** The director in charge of the internal control and risk management system, shall:
- a) identify the main business risks, taking into account the characteristics of the activities carried out by the issuer and its subsidiaries, and submit them periodically to the review of the Board of Directors;
- b) implement the guidelines defined by the Board of Directors, taking care of the planning, realization and management of the internal control and risk system, constantly monitoring its adequacy and effectiveness;
- c) adjust such system to the dynamics of the operating conditions and the legislative and regulatory framework;
- d) request to internal audit function to carry out reviews of specific operational areas and on the compliance of business operation with rules and internal procedures, giving simultaneous notice to the chairman of the Board of Directors, the chairman of control and risk committee and the chairman of the Board of statutory auditors;

e) promptly report to the control and risk committee(or to the Board of Directors) issues and problems that resulted from his/her activity or of which he/she became aware in order for the committee (or the Board) to take the appropriate actions.

7.C.5. The person in charge of internal audit shall:

- a) verify, both on a continuous basis and in relation to special needs, in conformity with international professional standards, the adequacy and effective functioning of the internal control and risk management system, through an audit plan, to be approved by the Board of Directors. Such a plan shall be based on a structured analysis and ranking of the main risks;
- b) not be responsible for any operational area and be subordinated to the Board of Directors;
- c) have direct access to all useful information for the performance of its duties;
- d) draft periodic reports containing adequate information on its own activity, and on the company's risk management process, as well as about the compliance with the management plans defined for risk mitigation. Such periodic reports contain an evaluation on the adequacy of the internal control and risk management system;
- e) prepare timely reports on particularly significant events;
- f) submit the reports indicated under items d) and e) above to the chairman of the Board of statutory auditors, the control and risk committee and the Board of Directors, as well as to the director in charge of the internal control and risk management system.

7.C.6. The internal audit function may be entrusted, as a whole or by business segments, to a person external to the issuer, provided, however, that it is endowed with adequate professionalism, independence and organization. The adoption of such organizational choices, with a satisfactory explanation of the relevant reasons, shall be disclosed to the shareholders and the market in the Corporate Governance Report.

Comment

Controls system is one of the critical issues of a listed company governance. Its components are rather diversified and range over from the so-called "line control" (or "first level control") carried out by persons in charge of operational areas to the so-called "management control", relating to business planning and controlling, up to internal auditing, that is the global assurance on design and functioning of internal controls.

Providing indications concerning the organization of controls architecture is not a task pertaining to a code of conduct, since each organization depends on the specific variables of the relevant issuer, including, by way of example, the kind of activity, the size, the group structure, as well as the regulatory framework that, with reference to specific regulated entities, could impose rules that are not fully consistent with the recommendations of the Code. However, the Committee deems it appropriate to set out certain recommendations relating to the internal control system governance and thus

on the role covered by the various players in building and "managing" (in a broad sense) such a system.

Two general preliminary remarks are deemed appropriate. The first remark is that the modern view of controls revolves around the notion of business risks, their identification, evaluation and monitoring; and this is one of the reasons why regulations and the Code refer to the internal control and risk management system as a global system based essentially on enterprise risk governance. The second preliminary remark, that is connected to the first one, is that a control system must be "integrated" in order to be efficient; this implies that its constituents are to be coordinated and interdependent among themselves and that the system as a whole is, at its own turn, integrated in the general organizational, administrative and accounting structure of the company.

Under the principles set out by article 7 the main players governing the control systems are listed, together with a brief description of their roles; under the application criteria the main duties pertaining to each players are described.

The Board of Directors, being a body entrusted with strategic supervision duties, is charged of defining the guidelines of the control system, consistently with the issuer's risk profile set out by the Board of Directors.

In addition, the Board of Directors is charged of evaluating the adequacy of controls system, in compliance with law provisions. Such an evaluation is to be carried out periodically, even though the occurrence of unexpected events over the course of the company's life may require special in depth analysis, aimed at assessing the effectiveness of controls with regard to specific situations.

The Board of Directors usually needs to carry out a preliminary verification activity, when performing such duties as well as when examining annual or half-year reports. This kind of activity is typically carried out by a committee made up of directors that, under the Code, it is identified as "control and risk committee". Such a name highlights, again, the central position of the risks and distinguish such a body from the Board of statutory auditors as "audit committee", as imposed by the recent rules in matter of auditing, whose duties remain clearly separate from the Board of Directors' preliminary needs.

On the other hand, for the purpose of streamlining the governance structures, the Board of Directors may decide to carry out directly such verification activity, without setting up a special committee, where such a choice is consistent with the issuer's features, as already clarified in detail in the comment under article 4. The reasons for such a choice shall be described in detail in the Corporate Governance Report and shall be subject to a periodic review. Where such duties are collectively performed by the whole Board of Directors, a special effort shall to be required to each director and the Chairman – or any other director eventually appointed for this purpose – shall inform adequately his colleagues on the subject-matters under discussion.

The Board of Directors is also required to identify among its members a director to be charged of establishing and maintaining an internal control and risk management system. The Board of Directors may also designate more

than one directors to be charged with such duties: by way of example, a director charged of duties concerning finance, administration and control may be provided with tasks relating to the control of the risks of such area, while a director charged of duties concerning business management may be provided with tasks relating to the control of the risks of such sector. The director charged with the internal control system might be, alternatively, a director already having operational delegated powers or a director without delegated powers, who is deemed to be specially feasible for carrying out the activity mentioned above and therefore should be qualified as executive director by reason of the assignment so received.

The choice to assign the duties in question to a director provided with delegated operational powers could be advantageous in consideration of the specific knowledge of such a person. In addition, it could be useful, in this case, that the issuer identifies adequate measures regarding the proposals in matter of appointment, revocation or remuneration of the person in charge of the internal audit function, by way of example setting out the previous sharing of such proposals with the chairman of the Board of Directors, where the same is not charged of operational delegated powers.

As far as the main business functions involved in the control system are concerned, a central position is ascribed to the internal audit function, that is charged of the "third level" control. The internal audit function should be absolutely independent, being provided with an autonomous power to drive the preparation of the audit plan and to put into operation single actions; the independency of the function is also linked to the rules set forth in matter of appointment, revocation and remuneration of the relevant person in charge of this office. Powers assigned to the Board of Directors in this subject-matter set out the existence of an effective hierarchical relationship in respect of the person in charge of the internal audit office. However, the above mentioned proposals shall be subject to the favourable opinion of the control and risk committee (or alternatively, as for proposals concerning remuneration, of the remuneration committee), and after hearing the Board of statutory auditors.

Special attention must be paid to information flows coming from the internal audit office; the outcome of the reviews made should be reported, generally simultaneously, to the chairmen of Board of Directors, Board of statutory auditors and control and risk committee, as well as to the director in charge of the internal control and risk management system, who shall not be allowed to receive information in advance on the activities carried out.

Business departments competent for carrying out "second level" controls, charged with the monitoring and management of typical business risks, including operational risk, financial risk, market risk, (non) compliance risk, etc., are at a different level.

Save for the person responsible for the preparation of the corporate financial documents, who is responsible, pursuant to the law, for arranging adequate administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of financial information documents, no general rules are provided on risk management applicable to all issuers irrespectively from the business sector.

On the contrary, certain special rules applicable to specific regulated entities require the setting up of special business structures and offices vested with the risk management duties, such as the chief risk officer, the compliance function, a risk committee made up of managers and charged with the task to assist the corporate bodies in the risk assessment process.

The Committee believes that each issuer should determine the most suitable organization in order to reach an effective protection from risks, taking into account the features of the company's business: in this way, the monitoring and management of risks may be assigned to managers (or departments) that are not exclusively devoted to this responsibility. Second level control departments are intended to enact a structured process of risk's analysis and are subject to a general review by internal audit function.

The framework of the internal control players is completed by the Board of statutory auditors, that is at the top of the internal control systems of an issuer.

In light of a rationalization of the internal controls system, the issuer shall assess the opportunity to entrust the Board of statutory auditors with the duties pertaining to the surveillance body pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001.

Article 8 - Statutory auditors

Principles

- **8.P.1.** The statutory auditors shall act with autonomy and independence also vis-à-vis the shareholders, which elected them.
- **8.P.2.** The issuer shall adopt suitable measures to ensure an effective performance of the duties typical of the Board of statutory auditors.

Criteria

- **8.C.1.** The statutory auditors shall be chosen among people who may be qualified as independent also on the basis of the criteria provided by this Code with reference to the directors. The Board of statutory auditors shall check the compliance with said criteria after the appointment and subsequently on an annual basis, including the result of such verification in its Corporate Governance Report, according to manners complying with the ones provided with reference to directors.
- **8.C.2.** The statutory auditors shall accept the appointment when they believe that they can devote the necessary time to the diligent performance of their duties.
- **8.C.3.** A statutory auditor who has an interest, either directly or on behalf of third parties, in a certain transaction of the issuer, shall timely and exhaustively inform the other statutory auditors and the chairman of the Board about the nature, the terms, origin and extent of his/her interest.
- **8.C.4.** In the framework of their activities, the statutory auditors may demand from the internal audit function to make assessments on specific operating areas or transactions of the company.
- **8.C.5.** The Board of statutory auditors and the control and risk committee shall exchange material information on a timely basis for the performance of their respective duties.

Comment

The Board of statutory auditors has a central role in the supervisory system of an issuer.

The Committee believes that the supervisory duties of the Board of statutory auditors have to be carried out in a preventive manner and not merely *ex post*, essentially verifying the procedures developed and reporting findings to the directors, in order for them to adopt the necessary remedies, if any.

The subsequent coordination with the management bodies, including the delegated ones, shall be deemed consistent with supervisory role on compliance (with the law, the by-laws, the internal procedures) typically

entrusted to the Board of statutory auditors. Such a role distinguishes it sharply from the Board of Directors and control and risk committee, that basically assess, also from a substantive viewpoint, the adequacy of the organization and the performance of the management process.

Within the Board of statutory auditors, the chairman plays a preeminent role and carries out the coordination of the works of such Board and liaises with the other company's bodies performing supervising functions.

The circumstance that the office of the chairman of the Board of statutory auditors is reserved to a member appointed by the minority shareholders represents a further impartiality factor, that may increase the independence requirements, and it should not be deemed as an element "unrelated" to the company organization: the Board of statutory auditors is a body that operates within the company and in a coordinated manner with the management bodies, in order to pursue the sole purpose of value creation for the shareholders in the medium-long term.

Finally, the Committee recommends a regular exchange of information between the Board of statutory auditors and the bodies and functions which perform, within the issuer, material duties in the subject matter of internal controls.

Article 9 - Relations with the Shareholders

Principles

- **9.P.1.** The Board of Directors shall take initiatives aimed at promoting the broadest participation possible of the shareholders in the shareholders' meetings and making easier the exercise of the shareholders' rights.
- **9.P.2.** The Board of Directors shall endeavour to develop a continuing dialogue with the shareholders based on the understanding of their reciprocal roles.

Criteria

- **9.C.1** The Board of Directors shall ensure that a person is identified as responsible for handling the relationships with the shareholders and shall evaluate from time to time whether it would be advisable to establish a business structure responsible for such function.
- **9.C.2.** All the directors usually participate in the shareholders' meetings. The shareholders' meetings are also an opportunity for disclosing to the shareholders information concerning the issuer, in compliance with the rules governing price-sensitive information. In particular, the Board of Directors shall report to the shareholders' meeting the activity performed and planned and shall use its best efforts for ensuring that the shareholders receive adequate information about the necessary elements for them to adopt in an informed manner the resolutions that are the competence of the shareholders' meeting.
- **9.C.3.** The Board of Directors should propose to the approval of the shareholders' meeting rules laying down the procedures to be followed in order to permit an orderly and effective conduct of the shareholders' meetings of the issuer, without prejudice, at the same time, to the right of each shareholder to express his or her opinion on the matters under discussion.
- **9.C.4.** In the event of significant changes in the market capitalization of the company's shares or in the composition of its shareholders, the Board of Directors shall assess whether proposals should be submitted to the shareholders' meeting to amend the by-laws in respect to the majorities required for exercising actions and rights provided for the protection of minority interests.

Comment

The Committee believes that it is in the best interests of the issuers to establish a continuing dialogue with the generality of the shareholders, and in particular, with institutional investors, in compliance with rules and

procedures governing the disclosure of price-sensitive information.

In such context, the shareholders' meeting remains an important opportunity of confrontation between shareholders and directors.

Accordingly, the Committee wishes that the Board of Directors uses its best efforts in order to reduce the formalities and fulfilments that make the attendance at the shareholders' meeting and the exercise of the voting rights by the shareholders burdensome and hard. When choosing the place, date and time for shareholders' meetings, as well as when drafting the relevant agenda, directors shall bear in mind the objective of making it as easy as possible for shareholders to attend and vote.

The Committee is aware that the good working of shareholders' meeting can be sometimes threatened by the behaviour of certain "rufflers" who substantially limit the effective attendance of the other shareholders. The Committee wishes that the issuers adopt measures aimed at protecting the effective attendance of the shareholders, respectfully of each single party's needs.

The company shareholders' meeting regulation can specify, among other things, the maximum duration of individual interventions, their order, the procedures for answering to the questions eventually submitted before the meeting, as well as the terms within such questions have to be submitted, the voting procedures, the interventions by directors and members of the Board of statutory auditors, as well as the powers of the chairman, *inter alia* with regard to settling or preventing conflicts in meetings.

Since the shareholders' meeting gives the chance to shareholders and directors to dialogue between themselves, the latter shall attend, especially whose who, in consideration of the duties with which they are entrusted in the Board of Directors and/or the committees of the Board, may provide a useful contribution to the discussion in shareholders' meeting.

With reference to the legal provisions protecting the rights of minorities that require minimum percentages to be fixed for the exercise of voting rights and the prerogatives of minorities, the Committee recommends that directors should continuously assess the desirability of adapting such percentages in line with the evolution of the company's size and shareholder structure.

The previous timely disclosure to the market by shareholders controlling the issuer (or, if there are not, shareholders who have a significant influence on it) of any proposal to be submitted to the shareholders' meeting in relation to topics on which directors did not formulate proposal, is a good practice. By way of example, shareholders' position in matter of the number of Board of Directors members, as well as duration and remuneration of such a body, could be disclosed to the market at the filing of candidates slate.

The Committee believes that it is not in its responsibility to take into consideration the behaviours of institutional investors. The Committee, moreover, is of the opinion that the acknowledgement by them of the importance of the corporate governance rules contained in this Code may represent a significant element for the purpose of a more convinced widespread application of the principles of the Code by the issuers.

Article 10 – Two tier and one tier systems

Principles

- **10.P.1.** In the event of adoption of a two tier or one tier management and control system, the above articles shall apply insofar as compatible, adapting individual provisions to the particular system adopted, consistently with the objectives of good corporate governance, transparency of information and protection of investors and the markets pursued by the Code and in the light of the criteria provided by this article.
- **10.P.2.** In the event that a new management and control system is proposed, the directors shall inform the shareholders and the market with regard to the reasons for such proposal, as well as on how it is envisaged that the Code will be applied to the new management and control system.
- **10.P.3.** In the first Corporate Governance Report published after the modification of the management and control system, the issuer shall describe in detail how the Code has been applied to such system. Such information shall be published also in the subsequent reports, indicating any amendments to the procedure followed in applying the Code to the selected management and control system.

Criteria

- **10.C.1.** In the event of adoption of the two tier management and control system, the Code shall be applied according to the following criteria:
 - a) except as provided in paragraph (b) below, the articles of the Code that make reference to the Board of Directors and the Board of statutory auditors, or their members, are applied, in principle, to the Management Board and Supervisory Board, or their members respectively;
 - b) due to the specific options of the by-laws adopted, in the configuration of the management and supervisory bodies also in relation to the number of their members and the powers and duties attributed to them as well as of the specific circumstances existing, the issuer may apply the provisions concerning the Board of Directors or directors to the Supervisory Board or its members;
 - c) the provisions relating to the appointment of directors provided by Article 5 of this Code shall apply, insofar as compatible, to the appointment of the members of the Supervisory Board and/or the members of the Management Board.
- **10.C.2.** In the event of adoption of the one tier management and control system, the Code shall be applied according to the following criteria:

- a) the articles of the Code that make reference to the Board of Directors and to the Board of statutory auditors, or their members shall be applied, in principle, to the Board of Directors and to the Management Control Committee, or their members respectively;
- b) the duties attributed to the control and risk committee by Article 7 of this Code may be reported to the Management Control Committee provided by Article 2409-eighteenth of the Italian Civil Code, where it complies with the composition criteria set forth by article 7.

Comment

The two tier and one tier management and control systems, alternative to the traditional one based on a Board of Directors and Board of statutory auditors, have been recently introduced and have had till now a very limited utilization by the issuers. Therefore, it is not possible to identify, with specific reference to the Italian system and experiences, a consistent significant applicative practice on which a best practice code must be based in order to indicate specific principles and criteria.

Moreover, it must be kept in mind that the alternative systems provide for significant margins of freedom, which allow the statutory autonomy to adjust their characteristics to the specific corporate governance needs of the issuer, with the consequence that the same model applied in different ways may show, in practice, mixed features, which may cause the provision of general abstract rules to become ineffective.

Due to the above reasons, a considerable degree of flexibility must be granted to the issuers, flexibility that they may use – provided that there is full transparency in the choices made – for the purpose of meeting, in the event of adoption of the one tier or two tier system, the substantial goals underlying this Code, which appear from the reading of the provisions devoted to the traditional model of corporate governance.

The Committee believes that the acceptance of the Code requires, in general, the application of the principle, followed also by the legislator, according to which the recommendations that make reference to the directors in the traditional model shall apply to the members of the Management Board (in the two tier model) and Board of Directors (in the one tier model), and those which make reference to the statutory auditors shall apply to the members of the Supervisory Board (in the two tier model) and of the Management Control Committee (in the one tier model).

With specific reference to the two tier model, however, according to the Committee, also taking into account the main foreign experiences, it is likely – and in principle preferable – that the Management Board does not take up a excessive size, but should rather be a body made up of a limited number of executive directors, or directors who are actively involved in the management activity, and "high level" management powers should be attributed to the Supervisory Board with reference to the strategic transactions and industrial and financial plans of the issuer. In the event that the configuration of the management and control systems follows such criterion, in compliance with

the provisions of the law, it may be appropriate to apply the recommendations of this Code, in particular with regard to the composition of the management body and committees, not to the Management Board, but – insofar as compatible – to the Supervisory Board, as suggested by criterion 10.C.1, letter b). It is pointed out that, should this be the case, in consideration of the composition and nature of the Supervisory Board, such body may also establish that the functions assigned to the committees provided by the Code are performed by the Supervisory Board as a whole, provided that the size of the body allows for an efficient performance of these functions and that adequate information is supplied in this regard.

With specific regard to the event that the one tier model is adopted, the Committee believes that the functions of the control and risk committee may be performed by the Management Control Committee. The solution indicated satisfies the need to avoid the joint presence, within the Board of Directors, of two committees with duties that are, even though not identical, obviously similar, a solution that is considered poorly functional and a possible source of inefficiency. Moreover, for the purpose of avoiding that such solution may negatively affect the effectiveness of the control functions, the hope is expressed that the choice to adopt the one tier model, and to accumulate the functions of the control body provided by the legislator and the committee provided by this Code, are always supported by adequate reasons on the part of the issuer. In addition, it is worthwhile that appropriate measures are implemented (starting from the very same qualitative and quantitative composition of the committee) for ensuring that the controlling body may perform its functions effectively and independently.

Corporate Governance Committee

Luigi Abete (Chairman Assonime), Carlo Acutis (Deputy Chairman Vittoria Assicurazioni), Franco Bernabè (Chairman Telecom Italia), Fabio Cerchiai (Chairman Ania), Paolo Andrea Colombo (Chairman Enel), John Philip Elkann (Chairman Fiat), Emanuele Erbetta (Chief Executive Officer Fondiaria-SAI), Gabriele Galateri di Genola (Chairman Assicurazioni Generali), Luca Garavoglia (Chairman Campari), Edoardo Garrone (Chairman Erg), Federico Ghizzoni (Chief Executive Officer Unicredit), Guido Giubergia (Chairman Ersel SGR), Raffaele Jerusalmi (Chief Executive Officer Borsa Italiana), Giordano Lombardo (Chairman Pioneer Investments SGR), Emma Marcegaglia (Chairman Confindustria), Stefano Micossi (Chairman CIR), Corrado Passera (Chief Executive Officer Intesa Sanpaolo), Giovanni Sabatini (General Manager ABI), Paolo Scaroni (Chief Executive Officer Eni), Domenico Siniscalco (Chairman Assogestioni), Luitgard Spögler (Legal & Governance Expert BlackRock Italy), Angelo Tantazzi (Chairman Prometeia), Marco Tronchetti Provera (Chairman Pirelli & C.), Antonio Vigni (General Manager Banca MPS)

Experts

Bruno Cova (Lawyers), Piergaetano Marchetti (Università Bocconi – Milano), Angelo Provasoli (Università Bocconi – Milano)

Technical Secretariat

Alessandro Chieffi, Carmine Di Noia (Assonime), Livia Gasperi (Borsa Italiana), Massimo Menchini (Assogestioni), Pietro Negri (Ania), Francesca Palisi (ABI), Marcella Panucci (Confindustria)

The Committee thanks: AIAF, AIIA, Assirevi, Massimo Belcredi, Enrico Bignami, Franco Bonelli, CNDCEC, Giuseppe Crisci, Carolyn Dittmeier, Guido Ferrarini, Nicola Gavazzi, Franzo Grande Stevens, NedCommunity, Protiviti, Marco Onado, Marco Reboa, Duccio Regoli.